
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
BEFORE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

______________________________
)

  In the matter of        )
)

GENERAL MILLS, INC.,  )  File No.  961-0101
     a corporation. )
____________________   ____________)

AGREEMENT CONTAINING CONSENT ORDER

The Federal Trade Commission ("Commission"), having initiated an investigation of the
acquisition by General Mills, Inc. ("GMI"), of the branded cereals and snack mix businesses of
Ralcorp Holdings, Inc. ("Ralcorp"), and it now appearing that GMI, hereinafter sometimes
referred to as  "proposed respondent," is willing to enter into an agreement containing an order to
cease and desist from certain conduct, and providing for other relief:

IT IS HEREBY AGREED by and between proposed respondent, by its duly authorized
officers and attorney, and counsel for the Commission that:

1. Proposed respondent GMI is a corporation organized, existing and doing business
under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Delaware with its office and principal place of
business located at Number One General Mills Boulevard, Minneapolis, MN 55426.

2. Proposed respondent admits all the jurisdictional facts set forth in the draft of
complaint here attached.  

3. Proposed respondent waives:

a. any further procedural steps;

b. the requirement that the Commission's decision contain a statement of
findings of fact and conclusions of law;
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c. all rights to seek judicial review or otherwise to challenge or contest the
validity of the order entered pursuant to this agreement; and

d. any claim under the Equal Access to Justice Act.

4. This agreement shall not become part of the public record of the proceeding unless
and until it is accepted by the Commission.  If this agreement is accepted by the Commission it,
together with the draft of complaint contemplated thereby, will be placed on the public record for
a period of sixty (60) days and information in respect thereto publicly released.  The Commission
thereafter may either withdraw its acceptance of this agreement and so notify the proposed
respondent, in which event it will take such action as it may consider appropriate, or issue and
serve its complaint (in such form as the circumstances may require) and decision, in disposition of
the proceeding.

5. This agreement is for settlement purposes only and does not constitute an
admission by proposed respondent that the law has been violated as alleged in the draft of
complaint here attached, or that the facts as alleged in the draft complaint, other than
jurisdictional facts, are true.

6. This agreement contemplates that, if it is accepted by the Commission, and if such
acceptance is not subsequently withdrawn by the Commission pursuant to the provisions of § 2.34
of the Commission's Rules, the Commission may, without further notice to the proposed
respondent, (1) issue its complaint corresponding in form and substance with the draft of
complaint here attached and its decision containing the following order to cease and desist in
disposition of the proceeding and (2) make information public with respect thereto.  When so
entered, the order to cease and desist shall have the same force and effect and may be altered,
modified or set aside in the same manner and within the same time provided by statute for other
orders.  The order shall become final upon service.  Delivery by the U.S. Postal Service of the
complaint and decision containing the agreed-to order to proposed respondent's address as stated
in this agreement shall constitute service.  Proposed respondent waives any right it may have to
any other manner of service.  The complaint may be used in construing the terms of the order, and
no agreement, understanding, representation, or interpretation not contained in the order or the
agreement may be used to vary or contradict the terms of the order.

7. Proposed respondent has read the proposed complaint and order contemplated
hereby.  Proposed respondent understands that once the order has been issued, it will be required
to file one or more compliance reports showing that it has fully complied with the order. 
Proposed respondent further understands that it may be liable for civil penalties in the amount
provided by law for each violation of the order after it becomes final.
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H. The "Relevant Geographic Market" means the United States.

I. "CHEX trademark" has the same meaning as any "CHEX trademark" identified in
the Trademark Agreement.   

J. "Agreement and Plan of Merger" means the Agreement and Plan of Merger by and
among Ralcorp, GMI, and General Mills Missouri, Inc., dated August 13, 1996.

K. "Reorganization Agreement" means the Reorganization Agreement attached as
Exhibit A to the Agreement and Plan of Merger.

L. "Technology Agreement" means the Technology Agreement attached as Exhibit
6.2(c) to the Reorganization Agreement.

M. "Trademark Agreement" means the Trademark Agreement attached as Exhibit
6.2(b) to the Reorganization Agreement.

N. "Supply Agreement" means the Transition Services -- Supply Agreement attached
as Exhibit 6.2(d) to the Reorganization Agreement.

II

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that: 

A. Respondent shall, before consummating the Agreement and Plan of Merger,
include in its agreements with Ralcorp and New Ralcorp provisions that will permit the transfer to
any Successor Party of the right to manufacture and sell in the Relevant Geographic Market
Private Label cereals that are identical to or substantially similar in form or overall appearance to
cereal products bearing the CHEX trademark.  These provisions shall permit the Successor Party
to manufacture and sell these Private Label cereals without further authorization or approval from
GMI or Ralston Purina Company.   

B. Respondent shall not enter into, enforce or attempt to enforce any agreement that
prohibits or delays New Ralcorp, as long as it retains the rights referred to in II.A., supra, or a
Successor Party thereafter, from manufacturing and selling in the Relevant Geographic Market
any Private Label cereals that are identical to or substantially similar in form or overall appearance
to cereal products bearing the CHEX trademark upon consummation of the Agreement and Plan
of Merger.

C. Respondent shall not enforce any provision in the Technology Agreement, the
Reorganization Agreement, the Trademark Agreement, the Agreement and Plan of Merger, or
any other agreement with Ralcorp that would prevent the transfer to any Successor Party, of the
right to manufacture and sell in the Relevant Geographic Market Private Label cereals
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VI

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this order shall terminate twenty (20) years from the
date this order becomes final.
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WHEREAS, the Commission is concerned that if an understanding is not reached during the

period prior to the final issuance of the Consent Agreement by the Commission (after the 60-day public

notice period), there may be interim competitive harm, and relief resulting from a proceeding challenging

the legality of the proposed Acquisition might not be possible, or might be less than an effective remedy;

and

WHEREAS, the entering into this Interim Agreement by General Mills shall in no way be

construed as an admission by General Mills that the proposed Acquisition constitutes a violation of any

statute; and

WHEREAS,  General Mills understands that no act or transaction contemplated by this Interim

Agreement shall be deemed immune or exempt from the provisions of the antitrust laws or the Federal

Trade Commission Act by reason of anything contained in this Interim Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE,  General Mills agrees, upon the understanding that the Commission has

not yet determined whether the proposed Acquisition will be challenged, and in consideration of the

Commission’s agreement that, at the time it accepts the Consent Agreement for public record comment, it

will grant early termination of the Hart-Scott-Rodino-waiting period, as follows:

1. General Mills agrees to execute the Consent Agreement and be bound by the terms of the

Order contained in the Consent Agreement, as if it were final, from the date General Mills

signs the Consent Agreement.
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2. General Mills agrees to submit, within twenty (20) days of the date the Consent Agreement

is signed by General Mills, and every thirty (30) days thereafter until respondent has fully

complied with the provisions of Paragraph II.A. of the Consent Agreement, written

reports, pursuant to Section 2.33 of the Commission’s Rules, signed by General Mills

setting forth in detail the manner in which General Mills will comply or has complied with

Paragraph II.A. of the Consent Agreement.

3. General Mills agrees that, from the date it signs the Consent Agreement until the first of

the dates listed in subparagraphs 3.a and 3.b, it will comply with the provisions of this

Interim Agreement:

a. ten (10) business days after the Commission withdraws its acceptance of the

Consent Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.34 of the

Commission’s Rules; or

b. the date the Order is final.

4. General Mills waives all rights to contest the validity of this Interim Agreement.

5. For the purpose of determining or securing compliance with this Interim Agreement,

subject to any legally recognized privilege, and upon written request, and on reasonable

notice, General Mills shall permit any duly authorized representative or representatives of

the Commission:

a. access, during the office hours of General Mills and in the presence of counsel, to

inspect and copy all books, ledgers, accounts, correspondence, memoranda, and

other records and documents in the possession or under
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the control of General Mills relating to compliance with this Interim 

Agreement; and 

b. upon five (5) days notice to General Mills and without restraint or interference

from it, to interview officers, directors, or employees of General Mills, who may

have counsel present, regarding any such matters.

6. Should the Federal Trade Commission seek in any proceeding to compel General Mills to

divest
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Ralcorp
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7. This Interim Agreement shall not be binding until accepted by the Commission.

Dated: December 24, 1996

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION GENERAL MILLS, INC.

By: ____________________________ __________________________
Stephen Calkins James F. Rill
General Counsel Counsel for General Mills, Inc.
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
BEFORE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

___________________________________
                                   )
     In the Matter of              )
                                   )
GENERAL MILLS, INC.,                )     Docket No.
     a corporation.                )
                                   )
___________________________________)

COMPLAINT

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act
and the Clayton Act, and by virtue of the authority vested in it by
said Acts, the Federal Trade Commission ("Commission"), having reason
to believe that respondent General Mills, Inc., subject to the
jurisdiction of the Commission, has agreed to acquire the branded
ready-to-eat cereal and snack mix businesses from Ralcorp Holdings,
Inc., in violation of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act,
as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45, and that the acquisition, if consummated,
would violate Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C.
§ 18, and Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended,
15 U.S.C. § 45, and it appearing to the Commission that a proceeding
in respect thereof would be in the public interest, hereby issues its
complaint, stating its charges as follows: 

I.  Respondent General Mills, Inc.

1. Respondent General Mills, Inc. ("General Mills"), is a
corporation organized, existing, and doing business under and by
virtue of the laws of the State of Delaware.  General Mills’
headquarters, office and principal place of business is located at
Number One General Mills Boulevard, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55426.  In
fiscal year 1996, General Mills had sales of approximately $5.4
billion.

2. Respondent General Mills is, and at all times relevant herein
has been, engaged in the sale of branded ready-to-eat ("RTE") cereals
to retail grocery stores, grocery wholesalers, and others throughout
the United States.  General Mills's primary RTE cereals include
Cheerios, Total, and Wheaties.  General Mills is the
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VII.  Entry Conditions

13. Entry of new RTE cereal producers into the relevant markets is
difficult, and would not be timely, likely or sufficient to prevent
anticompetitive effects.

VIII.  Effects of the Acquisition

14. The effects of the acquisition, if consummated, may be
substantially to lessen competition in the RTE cereal market in the
United States in violation of Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as
amended, 15 U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45, by increasing the
likelihood of the unilateral exercise of market power and
simultaneously restricting the entry of new private label cereal
products into competition with General Mills. 

IX.  Violations Charged

15. The acquisition agreement, entered into between General Mills
and Ralcorp for General Mills to acquire Ralcorp’s branded RTE cereal
and snack mix businesses, violates Section 5 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45, and would, if
consummated, violate Section 7 of the Clayton Act, as amended, 15
U.S.C. § 18, and Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, as
amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45. 

WHEREFORE, THE PREMISES CONSIDERED, the Federal Trade Commission
on this ______ day of _____________, 19____, issues its Complaint
against Respondent General Mills.

By the Commission. 

SEAL:

____________________
Donald S. Clark
Secretary
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Company created Ralcorp by distributing shares of Ralcorp to Ralston

Purina’s shareholders.  General Mills will not acquire Ralcorp’s

private label RTE cereal business.  Ralcorp will form a new entity,

New Ralcorp Holdings, Inc. ("New Ralcorp"), which will continue

producing RTE cereals. 

The Commission's investigation of this matter found potential

anticompetitive problems arising from this acquisition. The Complaint

alleges that concentration is high in the RTE cereal market and entry

is difficult and unlikely.  Although this transaction does not reduce

the number of established substantial firms in the RTE cereals

market, it does increase General Mills’ market share by approximately

3 percent and thus increases overall concentration in the market.  Of

particular concern is that the acquisition agreement restricts New

Ralcorp’s freedom to produce and sell private label CHEX products as

well as its ability to transfer the rights to manufacture and sell

private label CHEX products to a third party without permission from

General Mills.
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Under the terms of the proposed order, General Mills must,

before consummating the merger, include in its agreements with

Ralcorp and New Ralcorp provisions that will permit the transfer to

any successor party of the right to manufacture and sell private

label CHEX in the United States.  These provisions will permit the

successor party to sell these private label cereals without further

authorization or approval from General Mills or Ralston Purina

Company.  The proposed order also prohibits General Mills from taking

any action to prevent or delay New Ralcorp’s sale of private label

CHEX products in the United States.  Finally, the proposed order

prohibits General Mills from enforcing any agreement that would

prevent the transfer to a successor party of the right to manufacture

and sell private label CHEX in the United States.

Presently, neither Ralcorp nor any other person produces private

label CHEX products.  The proposed order will increase the likelihood

that someone will produce and sell private label CHEX in competition

with General Mills’ branded CHEX products.

To reduce the possibility of competitive harm before the

Commission’s entry of a final order, the interim agreement binds

General Mills to the terms of the order, as if it were final.
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The interim agreement became effective on the date General Mills

signed the consent agreement.

The purpose of this analysis is to invite public comment

concerning the consent order.  The Commission does not intend this

analysis to be an official interpretation of the agreement and order

or to modify their terms in any way.
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1996).  The Ciba Geigy  decision recognizes the efficiency
potential of noncompete clauses, which, among other benefits, may
facilitate an orderly transfer of ownership and provide a brief
transition period for new owners to establish themselves in the
business.  

Although the appropriate duration of a noncompete clause may
vary depending on the circumstances of the industry and the
acquisition, using a noncompete clause for a short period to
smooth a transition may be procompetitive.  I do not find reason
to believe that this short-term noncompete clause is
anticompetitive, and I dissent from the order requirement to
eliminate it.



DISSENTING STATEMENT OF COMMISSIONER ROSCOE B. STAREK, III

In the Matter of

General Mills, Inc.
File No. 961 0101

I respectfully dissent from the decision of the majority to accept for public comment a

consent agreement with General Mills, Inc. relating to the proposed acquisition of the branded

ready-to-eat ("RTE") cereal and snack food businesses of Ralcorp Holdings, Inc. ("Ralcorp"). 

My dissent rests on two grounds.

As noted in the Commission's proposed complaint, General Mills will not acquire the

private label RTE cereal or snack food businesses of Ralcorp.  Ralcorp instead will form a new

entity, New Ralcorp Holdings, Inc. ("New Ralcorp"), to hold the private label cereal and snack

food businesses that General Mills will not acquire.  Under the acquisition agreement, New

Ralcorp has the right to manufacture and sell a private label version of the Chex RTE cereal

products, but is restricted from transferring this right to a third party without permission from

General Mills.  The acquisition agreement further provides that New Ralcorp may not produce

private label Chex products for a period of eighteen months following consummation of the

acquisition.

My first reason for voting against acceptance of the proposed consent order is that the

Commission lacks sufficient evidence to support the unilateral effects theory alleged in the

complaint.  Second, it is completely unnecessary -- and in fact creates inefficiency -- to bar

enforcement of the parties' non-compete agreement.  Whatever minimal competitive risks this

transaction may raise are adequately addressed by eliminating the restrictions on Ralcorp's ability

to transfer manufacturing and sales rights for private label Chex to a third party.



     General Mills' share of branded cereals will of course increase as a result of the1

transaction, but the complaint does not allege a relevant market consisting of "branded RTE
cereal."  Indeed, the provisions of the proposed order (which affect the disposition of assets used
in the production of nonbranded cereals) make sense only in the context of an "all RTE cereal"
product market.

     See U.S. Department of Justice and Federal Trade Commission, Horizontal Merger2

Guidelines § 2.211, 4 Trade Reg. Rep. (CCH) ¶ 13,104, at 20573-9.
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General Mills' share of the RTE cereal market will increase by approximately three percent

as a result of the proposed acquisition.  The number of competitors in the RTE cereal industry

will remain the same, and General Mills will remain the second largest RTE cereal producer in the

United States.   New Ralcorp will immediately assume Ralcorp's position as the largest private1

label cereal producer in the United States.  Moreover, General Mills' post-merger share of the

RTE cereal market will be between 25 and 31 percent (depending on whether share is measured in

pounds or sales dollars), well below levels suggested by the Horizontal Merger Guidelines as the

minimum threshold at which the Commission might reasonably presume market power.   It is hard2

to understand under these simple facts how the majority determined that the proposed acquisition

will enable General Mills unilaterally to exercise market power.

Unable to presume market power, the Commission instead relies upon a "close

substitutes" theory of unilateral harm, notwithstanding a paucity of empirical evidence

demonstrating that Ralcorp's branded Chex products are the closest substitutes to the branded

cereals of General Mills.  Although Chex products clearly compete with the branded General Mills

RTE cereal products, consumers have a preference for variety when they choose RTE cereals and

frequently choose among the many branded and private label cereals produced by





     See Paragraph VI of the proposed order in Ciba-Geigy.5

     Barring enforcement of the non-compete agreement might undermine adherence by the6

parties to the supply agreement, an element of the acquisition agreement found acceptable by the
majority.
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inquiry into non-compete provisions generally focuses on whether the restriction is reasonably

necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of the party seeking to enforce the provision.

United States v. Empire Gas Corp., 537 F.2d 296, 307 (8th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S.

1122 (1977); Sound Ship Bldg. Corp. v. Bethlehem Steel Corp., 387 F. Supp. 252, 255 (D.N.J.

1975), aff'd, 533 F.2d 96 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 680 (1976).

The Commission has often recognized that competitive benefits can flow from a non-

compete clause in the context of the sale of a business.  The Commission's recent acceptance for

public comment of a consent agreement in Ciba-Geigy, Ltd., et al., File No. 961 0055 (consent

agreement accepted for public comment, Dec. 16, 1996), is illustrative.  In Ciba-Geigy, the

Commission imposed an affirmative obligation on the newly merged entity, Novartis AG, not to

compete in the United States and Canada for six years in the sale of animal flea control products.  5

As the Ciba-Geigy order indicates, the Commission clearly recognizes that non-compete clauses -

- even when long in duration and broad in scope -- can serve legitimate procompetitive purposes

in some circumstances by allowing an acquiring entity a brief period to re-deploy the acquired

assets in a manner that increases competition in the marketplace.  I am therefore puzzled why the

Commission so hastily condemns a non-compete provision here that is only eighteen months in

duration, limited to the manufacture and sale of private label Chex products, and arguably

necessary to protect the legitimate interests of the contracting parties.6



- 5 -

 Because I find that the facts do not support the Commission's theory of unilateral

competitive harm in this instance, and because in any event I disagree with the Commission's

decision to bar enforcement of the non-compete provision contained in the parties' acquisition

agreement, I have voted to reject the consent agreement.


